FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/22/2021 3:10 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/23/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100236-0

Court of Appeals Case No. 81322-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS, LOCAL 1950,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION, a Washington State Agency, and SHORELINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE,

Respondents.

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS, LOCAL 1950'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sarah Derry, WSBA No. 47189 Kathleen Phair Barnard, WSBA No. 17896 Dmitri Iglitzin, WSBA No. 17673 Attorneys for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

American Federation of Teachers, Local 1950 (AFT Local 1950), is an employee organization within the meaning of RCW 28B.52.020(1) and the bargaining representative of all faculty employed by Shoreline Community College. Administrative Record (AR) 155.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Local 1950 seeks review the Court of Appeals' (Division I) August 23, 2021, decision upholding and the Public Employment Relations Commission (the Commission or PERC)'s decision in *American Federation of Teachers Local 1950 v. Shoreline Community College*, Decision 12973-A (CCOL, 2020). The Appellate Court's decision is attached in the Appendix hereto.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Where the Court of Appeals and the Commission departed from well-established legal principles and agency practice, contrary to the factors provided in RCW 34.05.570(3)(c), (d), (e), (h), and (i), by holding that alleged *statutory* unfair labor practices could be deferred to the private arbitration forum for *contractual* disputes, and when proper resolution of statutory disputes by the agency is necessary to the public interest, should this Court grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b) to resolve:

- (a) the conflict between the departure from existing agency regulations and prior Commission case law, and
- (b) the substantial question of whether the Commission can cede its legislatively-granted authority to arbitrators?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2017, Local 1950 filed an unfair labor practice (ULP) charge with PERC stemming from the negotiation and implementation of additional "increment" payments to full-time and part-time faculty members in 2017. AR 1757–67. In November 2017, the agency issued a preliminary ruling, finding three unique causes of action:

Employer refusal to bargain in violation of RCW 28B.52.073(1)(d) [and if so, derivative interference in violation of RCW 28B.52.073(1)(a)], within six months of the date the complaint was filed, by:

- (1) Breaching its good faith bargaining obligations and refusing to bargain with the union over the decision of using a new methodology of calculating increased compensation and the total amount of increased compensation owed to the bargaining unit employees.
- (2) Unilaterally changing the amount of agreed upon increased compensation and the methodology to calculate the increased compensation owed to the bargaining unit employees, without providing the union an opportunity for bargaining.
- (3) Refusing to provide relevant information requested by the union concerning data related to the compensation implementation.

AR 1652-53.

Shoreline Community College responded by a motion asking that the complaint be deferred to arbitration because the CBA contained a right to obtain information and a provision for the increased compensation. AR 1630–37.

The Examiner denied the College's request to defer because "[t]he causes of action stated in the preliminary ruling do not arise from the parties' CBA but rather the parties rights and responsibilities outlined in RCW 28B.52.073." AR at 1615–17. She stated:

[T]his case does not qualify for deferral. Deferral to arbitration is a discretionary action by the Commission provided for in WAC 391-45-110(3). The Commission may defer a unilateral change allegation upon an employer's request if the complaint and answer indicate that the arbitrator can assist the unfair labor practice process by validating or clearing away waiver defenses under a collective bargaining agreement. Only unilateral change allegations subject to a contract waiver defense are deferred; the Commission does not bifurcate unfair labor practice complaints where statutory violations are also alleged. As the instant case includes allegations beyond unilateral change, deferral is inappropriate.

AR at 1617 (emphasis added).

Later, following a four-day hearing and post-hearing briefing on the merits, the Examiner concluded that there had been no "meeting of the minds" between the parties regarding how to calculate the additional compensation, because while the CBA stated that the employer would provide the additional compensation, the contract failed "to provide a more thorough explanation of the process" for calculating the compensation.¹ AR 144. She held that the employer's calculation method was "in direct conflict with the union's understanding of the agreement," and that from the evidentiary record, it was "unclear how or why [the employer] made these decisions." AR 146. See also AR 137, 139-40. She also held that the employer had compounded this misunderstanding by failing to provide the union with information it sought that "would have clued in the parties that they lacked a shared understanding" regarding methodology. AR 147. She specifically found that the College had bargained in bad faith in that by "failing to dispute the methodology and/or by ignoring the methodology the union proposed on multiple occasions, the employer failed to engage in full and frank bargaining. Therefore, the employer failed to meet its duty to bargain in good faith in violation of RCW 28B.52.073." AR 150.

-

AR 297.

¹ The CBA language provides:

All partial increment increases negotiated in this Agreement (Section B.1.a., b., and c.) shall be treated as deferred compensation retroactive to July 1, 2016. *See* Appendix C Memorandum of Understanding, dated December 7, 2016.

a. Funding for one-half (1/2) step increment increase plus funds saved from a one-third (1/3) reduction in sabbatical funding and used for a partial increment increase based on a weighted average of increments due;

b. Funding for one-half (1/2) step increment increase; and,

c. Distribution of the annual turn-over dollars for partial increment increase.

The Examiner held: (1) the employer refused to provide relevant information in violation of RCW 28B.52.073(1)(d); (2) the employer refused to bargain in good faith over the calculations in violation of RCW 28B.52.073(1)(d) and; (3) the employer unilaterally changed the status quo in violation of RCW 28B.52.073(1)(d) by implementing its version of the calculations, along with related interference violations. AR 167.

In a 2-1 decision, the Commission reversed and ruled that *all* charges should be deferred to arbitration. AR 38–54. The majority opinion asserted that its decision was consistent with the Commission's regulation on deferral. AR 43–44 (citing WAC 391-45-110(3)). Although WAC 391-45-110(3) authorizes deferral only for unilateral change allegations, the majority ruled that both the unilateral change and the failure to bargain allegations should be deferred due simply to a general statement of "legislative preference of arbitration expressed in RCW 41.58.020(4)²." AR at 47.

Separately, the Commission determined that the failure to provide information claim should be deferred because the CBA included an

.

² That statute concerns arbitration of grievances only: "Final adjustment by a method agreed upon by the parties is declared to be the desirable method for settlement of grievance disputes arising over the application or interpretation of an existing collective bargaining agreement. The commission is directed to make its mediation and fact-finding services available in the settlement of such grievance disputes only as a last resort." RCW 41.58.020(4)

obligation for the employer to "make available to the [union] information needed ... [for] its representative responsibilities." AR 48 (quoting CBA).

In dissent, PERC Chairperson Marilyn Glenn Sayan exposed the majority's departure from WAC 391-45-110(3) by stating that the "Examiner followed agency policy" when she did not defer the case to arbitration.³ AR 51. By reversing and deferring all charges, the "majority's decision to defer ... to arbitration is not consistent with the rule or long established agency practice." *Id.* Chairperson Sayan further observed that the departure from the WAC in deferring statutory violations was an abdication of the Commissions duty to enforce statutory regulation of collective bargaining:

The majority would defer the refusal to bargain by failing to provide information requested, a statutory violation, to arbitration because the parties affirmatively expressed their statutory obligation in their collective bargaining agreement. Under the majority's analysis, parties could convert statutory obligations into contractual violations that could only be heard through the grievance and arbitration provisions of a collective bargaining agreement. The effect of this decision is to allow parties to strip the Commission of its authority to administer the collective bargaining laws by converting statutory violations to contractual violations.

³ Chairperson Sayan also objected that in order to request deferral, the employer should have either filed a request to defer in the first place (not its later motion) or an interlocutory appeal of the Examiner's denial under WAC 391-45-310. Deferral is not proper where the Employer's answer asserts waiver by contract as a defense, AR 1604; *Seattle School District*, Decision 11161-A (PECB, 2013).

Id. at 52–53. Under this analysis, the majority "den[ies] a party their right to pursue a statutory violation before the Commission." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals affirmed the Commissions' ruling. The appellate decision shows no indication that the Court understood that failure to bargain the calculations and failure to provide information claims are *statutory* rights meant to provide a fair and effective framework for collective bargaining, completely independent of the result of that bargaining, the CBA. The decision's effect is exactly as Chairperson Sayan indicated; it "allow[s] parties to strip the Commission of its authority to administer the collective bargaining laws" Moreover, it endorses the elimination of parties' statutory rights in the name of "judicial efficiency." See App. at 12, n. 11. This decision is binding authority denying public sector employees, unions, and employers of the right to have PERC impartially and uniformly enforce a legislated set of labor relations rules, and instead pushes enforcement of those rights to private arbitration, free from legislated language, free from rules developed through the due process inherent in the Administrative Procedure Act, and free from the review of Washington's courts.

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Reviews Cases That Present Issues of Substantial Public Interest

This Court determines whether to review a Court of Appeals decisions under RAP 13.4(b). Review is appropriate where the decision presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- B. By Converting Statutory Rights Under PERC's Authority Into Contractual Rights, PERC Undermines the Public Interest.
 - 1. PERC's prior deferral standard correctly balanced the Agency's expertise in enforcing labor law with arbitrator's expertise in enforcing contracts.
 - a. Three separate violation of collective bargaining parameters are at issue.

The statutory requirement that employers collectively bargain with unions encompasses many different duties, three of which were implicated in Local 1950's complaint: a duty to engage in good faith bargaining; a related but separate duty to refrain from altering working conditions without bargaining, and a duty to provide information necessary to perform collective bargaining duties, including bargaining. *See* RCW 28B.52.020(7) (defining collective bargaining); RCW 28B.52.073(1)(e) (unfair labor practice to refuse to collectively bargain). As reflected in the preliminary ruling, AR at 1652–53, PERC has long recognized these as three separate statutory violations, each a variation of a violation of the

duty to bargain in good faith, each with its own test and name: failure to bargain, unilateral change, and failure to provide information, respectively. *See City of Yakima*, Decision 3564-A (PECB, 1991).⁴

These are independent statutory "rules of the road" for labor relations. The duty to bargain a proposed change, and the duty not to implement that change without first completing good faith bargaining are separate statutory obligations as explained by the Commission in *Lake Washington School District*, Decision 11913-A (2014), at 3–4 (failure to bargain the decision to skim bargaining unit work is independent of the unlawful unilateral change implementing the skimming). The duty to provide information is a separate important statutory rule of the road intended to facilitate informed bargaining. *City of Bellevue v. Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 1604*, 119 Wn.2d 373, 383, 831 P.2d 738, 743 (1992); *King County*, Decision 6994-B (PECB, 2002); RCW 28B.52.010 (purpose of statute "includes the elements of open communication and access to information in a timely manner.")

b. Only unilateral change allegations may be deferred.

Only one of these violations has ever been deferrable: the unilateral change. WAC 391-45-110(3)(a)⁵; City of Yakima, Decision

٠

⁴ PERC's decisions can be found on PERC's website at https://perc.wa.gov/.

⁵ Providing PERC "may" defer to arbitration where:

3564-A (PECB, 1991) (explaining only unilateral change matters can be deferred, and, in n. 10, that "[o]ther 'refusal to bargain' claims dealing with 'good faith' or refusals to provide information" may not be deferred); *King County*, Decision 11597-A (PECB, 2014) (refusal to provide information allegations are statutory and not deferrable.).

There are sound reasons that only the unilateral change ULP was deferrable. As the Commission explained in *City of Yakima*, the other rules of the road are not within the expertize of an arbitrator, and bad faith bargaining charges "often put the legitimacy of the contract or the grievance procedure itself in question", thus requiring the agency to apply the statutory standards to enforce the bargaining obligation that will render a legitimately enforceable contract. *Id*.

This division of labor between PERC and arbitrators is the same across all the statutes that the Commission enforces, and the Legislature has made clear that it is PERC who must enforce the statutory rules of the road for collective bargaining. This is reflected in RCW 28B.52.065 which

⁽i) Employer conduct alleged to constitute an unlawful unilateral change of employee wages, hours or working conditions is arguably protected or prohibited by a collective bargaining agreement in effect between the parties at the time of the alleged unilateral change;

⁽ii) The parties' collective bargaining agreement provides for final and binding arbitration of grievances concerning its interpretation or application; and

⁽iii) There are no procedural impediments to a determination on the merits of the contractual issue through proceedings under the contractual dispute resolution procedure.

provides for Commission adjudication of unfair labor practices, and allows for arbitral resolution of only if the parties mutually agree to seek adjudication under the CBA instead. And it is reflected in the statute creating PERC, RCW 41.58.010, to administer certain collective bargaining statutes which requires "efficient and expert administration" that is "uniform and impartial." RCW 41.58.005.6 In the words of this Court, the "Legislature has delegated to PERC the delicate task of accommodating the diverse public, employer and union interests at stake in public employment relations" a task requiring "particularity and sensitivity." *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 113 Wn.2d 197, 203, 778 P.2d 32, 35 (1989).

c. Unilateral change cases are deferrable only where a contractual waiver is at issue, because that defense, if colorable, is the only purely contractual issue that arises in processing unfair labor practices and because PERC is charged with statutory enforcement.

The purpose of deferral "is to obtain an arbitrator's interpretation of the labor agreement, to assist [PERC] in evaluating a 'waiver by

⁶ PERC oversees a web of similar laws that apply the same legal principles to various public sector workers, including Chapter 28B.52 RCW, which addresses public employment in community colleges. The employer actions prohibited by RCW 28B.52.073 are substantially the same as those actions prohibited in related statutes applying to other groups of workers, e.g., RCW 41.56.140 and RCW 41.58.110. PERC interprets these statutes consistently, and treats ULP decisions made under these statutes interchangeably. *See, e.g., Edmonds Community College,* Decision 10250-A (CCOL, 2009) (relying on, without comment, decisions interpreting unfair labor practices under RCW 41.56 and RCW 41.58 to interpret ULPs under RCW 28B.52).

contract' defense." *City of Yakima*, Decision 3564-A (PECB, 1991). But outside this very narrow circumstance, there is no legislative preference for deferral. *Id.*; RCW 41.56.160(1) (PERC's authority "shall not be affected or impaired by any means of adjustment, mediation or conciliation in labor disputes that have been or may hereafter be established by law"). And "arbitrators have no particular expertise in the interpretation or administration of the statute." *City of Bremerton*, Decision 6006-A (PECB, 1998) (*citing City of Bellevue*, 119 Wn.2d at 381); *Seattle School District*, Decision 5542-C (PECB, 1997) ("Arbitrators have no particular expertise in other issues, however, and the Commission does not defer ... other types of 'refusal to bargain' charges").

Because unilateral changes may only be deferred when the action is "arguably" privileged under the contract, before deferring a unilateral change case to arbitration, PERC has always been required to decide whether the employer's waiver by contract defense is colorable. *City of Yakima*, Decision 3564-A (PECB, 1991) (PERC "could interpret any collective bargaining agreement to the extent necessary to decide a pending unfair labor practice case" and limits deferral to unilateral changes that are "arguably protected or prohibited by an existing collective bargaining agreement".) (emphasis in original).

Once PERC determines that an employer has a colorable argument that the existing contract permitted the unilateral change, the case may be deferred to arbitration, and the arbitrator will determine whether the Employer's action was indeed authorized by the contract. If the Arbitrator rules that the CBA permitted the change, the Agency will dismiss the ULP charge. Decision 3564-A. If the arbitrator determines the contract prohibited the employer's action, the Agency will still dismiss the case, because the Union will receive a remedy from the arbitrator. *Id.* at n.21. Finally, if the arbitrator determines that the CBA neither permits nor prohibits the action, the Agency will institute further proceedings. *Id.*

Thus, in a case that is properly deferred, statutory issues that have been waived by contract need not be resolved and statutory issues that are not affected by contract are preserved for Commission adjudication. Here, in the decision to defer the unilateral change allegation, the Commission summarily passed over the related statutory failure to bargain over the calculations of the payments and the failure to provide information concerning the calculations. It thus abandoned its duty to adjudicate those statutory claims, and departed from longstanding and legally sound practice of not bifurcating claims for deferral.

d. Even where a unilateral change claim is otherwise deferrable, if there are other claims, the Commission does not have discretion to defer any of the claims.

Deferral to arbitration under WAC 391-45-110(3) may be ordered only "where the **sole** cause of action is for a unilateral change." *Seattle School District*, Decision 11161-A (PECB, 2013) (emphasis added). When other allegations are present, the Agency would refuse to defer the entire matter. *Snohomish County Police Staff and Auxiliary Services Center*, Decision 12342 (PECB, 2015), *aff'd*, Decision 12342-A (PECB, 2016) ("although the preliminary ruling includes causes of action for unilateral changes, the remaining causes of action concern statutory claims that are not subject to deferral. The Commission does not bifurcate unfair labor practice complaints.") (cleaned up); *City of Spokane*, Decision 11626 (PECB, 2013) (preliminary ruling holding that "[a]lthough a cause of action is given for a unilateral change, the cause of action for refusal to provide information concerns an alleged statutory violation that is not subject to deferral" and therefore entire matter could not be deferred).

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