FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/22/2021 11:15 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100236-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS, LOCAL 1950,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION, a Washington State Agency, and SHORELINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE,

Respondents.

SHORELINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOHN D. CLARK Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 28537 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 John.Clark@atg.wa.gov (206) 389-2051 OID 91035

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

IV. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Union's Desire to Reduce the Commission's Authority to Defer Contract Issues to Arbitration is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

The Commission's statutes, rules, and precedents establish a strong preference for it to defer to arbitration any disputes that could require interpretation of a CBA. The Commission's authority is limited to that which the Legislature has granted. *See Local 2916, IAFF v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 128 Wn.2d 375, 379, 907 P.2d 1204 (1995). The Commission "may" adjudicate any unfair labor practice alleged by a college or faculty union. RCW 28B.52.065. The types of ULP claims a party can allege are listed in RCW 28B.52.073.

Although the Commission may adjudicate ULP claims, the Commission's primary grant of power in RCW 41.58.020(4) requires that "[f]inal adjustment by a method agreed upon by the parties is declared to be the desirable method for settlement of grievance disputes arising over the application or interpretation of an existing collective bargaining agreement." The Union

places a very low importance on this requirement. Pet. for Rev. at 5 n.2.

However, the Commission places great importance on complying with RCW 41.58.020(4). "It has been the practice of the Commission to 'defer' to contractually created or adopted dispute resolution processes where it appears that issues disputed in an unfair labor practice case are susceptible to resolution through the contract procedures." Manson Sch. Dist., Decision 3813 (PECB, 1991) (citing Stevens Cnty., Decision 2602 (PECB, 1987)). The Commission does not assert jurisdiction through the ULP provisions of the statute to remedy violations of collective bargaining agreements. City of Tukwila, Decision 380 (PECB, 1991) (citing City of Walla Walla, Decision 104 (PECB, 1976)). "A pivotal concern of the Commission should be to maintain the sanctity of contracts freely negotiated and agreed upon by parties." Whatcom Cnty. Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Whatcom Cnty., Decision 8512 (PECB, 2005).

If a ULP allegation involves issues already bargained in a

CBA, the Commission recognizes the affirmative defense of waiver by contract. *Lakewood Sch. Dist.*, Decision 755-A (PECB, 1980); WAC 391-45-270(1)(b). Once a CBA is signed, the parties will have met their obligation to bargain matters set forth in the contract, relieving the parties of their obligation to bargain for the life of the agreement. *City of Kelso*, Decision 10233-A (PECB, 2010). Therefore, no ULP will be found if a party makes changes in a manner consistent with the contract. *Id.*

The Commission's rule in WAC 391-45-110 addresses processing ULP complaints and making a determination on deferring contract issues to arbitration. WAC 391-45-110(2) requires a Commission staff member to review ULP complaints and issue a preliminary ruling:

(2) If one or more allegations state a cause of action for unfair labor practice proceedings before the commission, a preliminary ruling summarizing the allegation(s) shall be issued and served on all parties.

The rule then allows deferral of some or all of the ULP causes of action in the preliminary ruling under the following language:

(3) The agency may defer the processing of allegations which state a cause of action under subsection (2) of this section, pending the outcome of related contractual dispute resolution procedures, but shall retain jurisdiction over those allegations.

WAC 391-45-110(3) (emphasis added). This key provision of the deferral rule expressly authorizes the Commission to defer processing of any or all of the "allegations which state a cause of action" in the preliminary ruling "under subsection (2) of this section." Emphasis added. Subsection (3) of the rule also sets forth the following three standards for helping to determine if deferral is appropriate:

- (a) Deferral to arbitration may be ordered where:
 - (i) Employer conduct alleged to constitute an unlawful unilateral change of employee wages, hours or working conditions is arguably protected or prohibited by a collective bargaining agreement in effect between the parties at the time of the alleged unilateral change;
 - (ii) The parties' collective bargaining agreement provides for final and binding arbitration of grievances concerning its interpretation or application; and

(iii) There are no procedural impediments to a determination on the merits of the contractual issue through proceedings under the contractual dispute resolution procedure.

WAC 391-45-110(3)(a).

The Commission's final decision methodically applied the evidence to all of the standards in WAC 391-45-110(3) and held:

We conclude that the parties had a collective bargaining agreement that governed the issues raised by the union's unfair labor practice complaint. Commission precedent, **RCW** 41.58.020(4), and WAC 391-45-110(3) direct the agency, in appropriate cases, to defer unfair labor practice complaints to arbitration. The gravamen of the union's complaint is that the employer unilaterally changed compensation without notice and failed to provide information required under chapter 28B.52 RCW. The alleged refusal to bargain arises from the same set of facts as the unilateral change. In both matters the employer asserts colorable contractual justification for its actions. Accordingly, we reverse the Examiner's decision and conclude that the matter should be deferred to arbitration.

AR 42-50.

The court of appeals held that Commission decisions "are accorded extraordinary judicial deference, especially in the

matter of remedies," and affirmed the Commission's decision.

Am. Fed'n of Tchrs., Loc. 1950, 493 P.3d at 1217.

1. Union's Narrow Interpretation of Commission's Deferral Rules Disregards the Rule's Plain Language and Violates RCW 41.58.020(4)

The Commission has broad authority under WAC 391-45-110(3) to defer making any ULP determination so that an issue of contract interpretation can be decided in arbitration. The Union's petition seeks to reduce the Commission's authority to do that. Throughout this lengthy ULP process, Union has not attributed any meaning to the first sentence in WAC 391-45-110(3) that says:

(3) The agency may defer the processing of allegations which state a cause of action under subsection (2) of this section, pending the outcome of related contractual dispute resolution procedures, but shall retain jurisdiction over those allegations.

The phrase "allegations which state a cause of action under subsection (2) of this section" refers to all the ULP allegations in the preliminary ruling. The Commission's final order correctly applied WAC 391-45-110(3) and held "[a]n expansive

interpretation of that rule is appropriate given the broad scope of its first sentence and the legislative preference for arbitration expressed in RCW 41.58.020(4)." AR 47.

The final order held "[t]he Commission is not limited by how the parties characterize the allegations in their unfair labor practice complaints." AR 47. This statement makes sense because, otherwise, a party filing a ULP complaint could strategically try to prevent deferral to arbitration by drafting their ULP complaint to conceal an underlying contract issue in dispute. This is what the Union attempted in this case.

The court of appeals applied rules of construction for interpreting agency rules and explained:

Under the plain language of WAC 391-45-110(3), the Commission may "retain jurisdiction" over but "defer" alleged ULP violations "pending the outcome of related contractual dispute resolution procedures" in arbitration. This broad language is not limited to unilateral change allegations, and reflects the Commission's policy to encourage arbitration if "a substantial question of contract interpretation exists which could influence or control the

¹ The decision says "defer" means "delay" in this part of the rule. *Am. Fed 'n of Tchrs., Loc. 1950*, 493 P.3d at 1218, n.7.

outcome of the [ULP] case." Restricting arbitration to only questions of whether an employer unilaterally changed a term of the CBA goes against the plain language of WAC 391-45-110(3), and deviates from the legislature's intent to promote resolution of contractual disputes through the method agreed on by the parties as well as the Commission's policy to defer contractual disputes to arbitration.

Am. Fed'n of Tchrs., Loc. 1950, 493 P.3d at 1218 (internal citation omitted).

Thus, the Union's argument that WAC 391-45-110(3)(a) prohibits the Commission from identifying contract issues to defer to arbritration violates legislative intent, Commission policy, and the plain language of the deferral rule.

The Union's effort to disregard plain language in the deferral rule is also at odds with the Commission's regulation for interpreting its own rules:

The policy of the state being primarily to promote peace in labor relations, these rules and all other rules adopted by the agency shall be liberally construed to effectuate the purposes and provisions of the statutes administered by the agency, and nothing in any rule shall be construed to prevent the commission and its authorized agents from using their best efforts to adjust any labor dispute.

WAC 391-08-003.

2. The Decision to Defer Issues to Arbitration does not Require an Arbitrator to Decide any Statutory ULP claims

The Union's petition incorrectly suggests that the Commission's decision to defer the ULP complaint to arbitration will cause an arbitrator to decide whether the College committed statutory ULP violations. The decision does no such thing. Such arbitration will only address whether the College complied with the CBA provisions for the salary increase and the response to the information request. An arbitrator will not be asked to decide whether the College failed to bargain or committed a statutory ULP. After an arbitrator determines contract issues, the Commission still has jurisdiction over any ULP issues.

The Union's argument that the Commission "abandoned its duty to adjudicate" Union's statutory ULP claims overlooks the fact that the Commission conducted a four-day ULP hearing,

² See Pet. for Rev. at 13.

reviewed a substantial evidentiary record, and issued a detailed decision on all three ULP charges. Upholding the waiver by contract defense and deferring the contract interpretation issues to arbitration *was* an adjudication of the ULP charges. The College prevailed by proving the affirmative defense of waiver by contract.

The Union also argues that deferring both the "refusal to bargain" and the "unilateral change" ULP compensation claims left the refusal to bargain claim "summarily passed over." Pet. For Rev. at 13. The Commission's decision explains why this is not the case:

Both take aim at the same employer actions; e.g., the methodology the employer used to calculate and implement the increased compensation agreed to by the parties in the agreement. Both charges depend for their resolution on interpretation of the [CBA], a task assigned by the parties to an arbitrator. However sliced, they amount to the same allegation: that the employer, without notice, altered the contractually agreed method for calculating employee retroactive pay after the agreement was put into effect and thereby breached its duty to "bargain collectively with the representatives of its employees."

AR 47. Although the Union disagrees with the outcome, the Commission's analysis was heavily supported by Union's own hearing testimony that verified this was a contract dispute:

- The Union president testified that she is not alleging the total amount of funding "still needs to be bargained" and she does not "believe there is a methodology that still has to be bargained." AR 867-68.
- The Union president testified, "[W]e are not saying that what the contract says is not accurate. It was the way it was applied." AR 855.
- The Union president testified "It is the union's position that they should have been paid correctly in the first place" AR 842.
- When asked "You are alleging that the college incorrectly paid the compensation in section B-1-A of both Article 1 and Article 2 of the Appendix A, right?" the Union president answered "Correct." AR 882.

Similarly, with regard to the ULP claim involving the request for salary calculations, it is undisputed the CBA requires:

Upon request, the Employer shall make available to the Federation information needed to assist the Federation in performing its representative responsibilities. Such information shall be in the same form as is available to the general public or for internal College use. AR 48 (emphasis added).

On August 24, 2017, while the College was still preparing the salary calculations, the Union president emailed College saying Union wants to review the unfinished calculations "concurrently" with the College. AR 468. The Union president testified Union wanted "the calculations before the college has determined the calculations were complete and correct," but College instead finished the calculations and provided them the next day. AR 471-72, 821. College believes the CBA did not require College to give Union unfinished calculations, since that would not be the *same form* that College uses the calculations for internal College use, and the College had provided finished calculations for prior salary increases. See AR 66-67. The CBA language supports College's position, and this was a proper issue for arbitration.

The Commission here correctly found "[t]he employer satisfied the union's information request on August 25, 2017,

nearly two months before the unfair labor practice complaint was filed" and "the union sought only prospective 'cease and desist' relief." AR 48. The Commission held "[t]he parties' inclusion of a provision obligating the employer to supply the union with information furnishes a clear contractual basis for deferral." AR 48

The manner in which employers respond to union requests for information is not a sacred activity that can never by waived by contract or can only be reviewed as a ULP violation. The Commission said "[i]t is certainly within an arbitrator's capability to determine whether the employer breached its contractual duty to supply information needed by the union in fulfillment of its duty of representation." AR 48.

The Court of Appeals agreed the "decision was reasonable because the College asserted a colorable waiver-by-contract

defense that may control resolution of the Union's statutory claims." *Am. Fed'n of Tchrs.*, *Loc. 1950*, 493 P.3d at 1220.³

Therefore, the Union's assertion that "the Commission summarily passed over the related statutory failure to bargain over the calculations of the payments and the failure to provide information concerning the calculations" does not merit review. *See* Pet. For Rev. at 13.

3. Commission is not Prohibited from Bifurcating ULP Claims

The Union argues that even when there is a unilateral change claim that is deferrable, the Commission does not have discretion to defer any claims whatsoever if there are other ULP claims. *See* Pet. For Rev. at 14. A restrictive unwritten policy like that would eviscerate the Commission's authority to defer claims to arbitration, violate the legislative preference for arbitration in

³ See also DaimlerChrysler Corp. v. N.L.R.B., 288 F.3d 434, 443 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (the standard for whether ULP dispute over information request can be deferred to arbitration is a "clear and unmistakable waiver" in the CBA).

RCW 41.58.020(4) and violate the first sentence in WAC 391-45-110(3) that allows deferral of any ULP claim in the preliminary ruling.

No Commission decision has held that the Commission cannot find waiver by contract applies to any or all of the alleged ULP allegations after hearing all the evidence in a ULP hearing. In this case, the Commission's decision is based on the unchallenged facts in the final decision. All three of the ULP allegations here were framed as a "refusal to bargain in violation of RCW 28B.52.073(1)(e)." AR 39-40, 1767. The Union's ULP complaint also alleged the College's conduct for all three "abandoning the parties" allegations was agreed-upon application of the language in the CBA." See AR 1767. Such language alleging contract violations was sufficient to show a unilateral change was being alleged, and the Commission said "[t]his alone could have alerted the agency of the need to consider deferral." AR 40 n.10.

The salary increase provision and information request provision in the CBA here relieved the parties from a duty to bargain those issues because they had already been bargained and agreed to. *See City of Kelso*, Decision 10233-A (PECB, 2010). The Commission was well within its authority to recognize the affirmative defense of waiver by contract for those ULP allegations that involve issues bargained in the CBA. *See Lakewood Sch. Dist.*, Decision 755-A (PECB, 1980); WAC 391-45-270(1)(b).

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